

Why You Should Take This Yeast Problem Seriously

Dr. Mercola

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Introduction	1
What Is Candida and How Does It Become Candidiasis?	1
Do You Have Any of These Behavioral Risk Factors for Candida Overgrowth?	5
What Are the Symptoms of a Genital Yeast Infection?	5
How Common Are Vaginal Yeast Infections?	6
What Other 'Down There' Yeast Infections Are There?	7
Candida Overgrowth in Your Gut	7
Leaky Gut Syndrome: Where It All Begins	8
Signs of Candidiasis That You Wouldn't Immediately Guess	9
Could a Yeast Infection Be Making You Fat?	9
Do You Crave Sugar and/or Carbs or Feel Run Down? Yeast Might Be to Blame	9
Candida and Cancer: A Confounding Connection	10
So How Does Yeast Grow Out of Control to Begin With?	11
How Do I Know for Sure That Candidiasis Is to Blame for My Symptoms?	12
What Tests Are There for Yeast Infections?	. 13
What Treatments Are Best for Yeast Infections?	13
There Are Other Natural and Inexpensive Candida Treatments	13
What Quick, Natural 'Right-Now' Treatments Can I Try Before I Go to the Doctor?	14
How to Keep Candida From Taking Over Your Body	15

Millions of people are currently fighting a battle against a single-cell fungus they cannot see. This fungus belongs to a family of yeasts called Candida and, under normal circumstances, it lives harmlessly in the mucous membranes of your skin, mouth, intestines and, in women, your vagina.<sup>1</sup>

Unfortunately, Candida cells can over-develop very rapidly under certain conditions, for example, if your immune system is out of balance from eating unhealthy foods, or if you are taking certain prescription drugs, fighting an illness, and more. When this overgrowth occurs, it can create a condition called Candidiasis, often referred to simply as a "yeast infection." The result is an astounding array of health problems that can rob you of energy and interfere with your ability to enjoy life.

Unfortunately, there is a lot of misinformation on the Internet about Candida, which makes it difficult to know what's true and what isn't when it comes to preventing and treating yeast infections.

What's worse, sometimes doctors not only do not immediately recognize the symptoms of Candida overgrowth, but are unsure of, or confused about how to cure it.

So, if you think you may be suffering from a yeast-related problem, or if you're simply interested in learning more about yeast infections and their symptoms, keep reading. In the pages that follow, you'll learn what Candida is, how to know if you have an overgrowth of it and, more importantly, how to prevent it—or if you already have an overgrowth, natural ways to overcome it.

#### What Is Candida and How Does It Become Candidiasis?

Candida is a common, yeast-like fungus that lives in your mucous membranes and, normally, quite benignly together with the microbiota and microflora of your mouth, gut, and intestinal tract all the way to the rectum.<sup>2</sup> It also likes to grow in warm, moist areas of the skin, such as under your baby's diaper, in your armpits and groin and, in women, in your vagina and the folds of your vulva.

Over 20 types<sup>3</sup> of Candida can cause infections in humans, but the most common is Candida albicans (C. albicans), which causes up to 75 percent<sup>4</sup> of all Candida infections, and which is the type we'll be focusing on in this E-book.



Undisturbed, C. albicans is a round, yeast-like structure that is present without it ever causing a problem or you even knowing it's there. But with the help of a protein that has a sugar (glycogen) attached to it,<sup>5</sup> it can grow too fast and too much, causing it to elongate into filaments called hyphae. These filaments then burrow into the soft tissues of your body, causing the fungus to morph into the infection called Candidiasis, commonly referred to as a yeast infection.<sup>6</sup>

It's important to understand that a Candida **overgrowth** is not due to the mere presence of Candida in or on your body—Candida is a normal part of your body's microflora. In fact, it's so normal that oral swabs in 40 to 75 percent of healthy adults will test positive for C. albicans at any given time. And, as many as 25 percent of women will be positive for C. albicans in their healthy vaginas with no signs of an overgrowth or infection.<sup>7,8</sup>

It's thought that Candida enters your body as early as birth with other organisms that are a normal part of the birth process, all of which cause no problems until there's a breach in your body's defense system.

It's that breach that opens the door for a Candida overgrowth to occur, and it's the *overgrowth* that can wreak havoc on your health and even cause death if your immune system is dangerously low.<sup>9</sup> That's why people with AIDS or HIV, or who are immunocompromised by cancer treatments like radiation or chemo, or who are on antibiotic therapy, are especially susceptible to a yeast infection.

In fact, according to the Oral Cancer Foundation:10

"Yeast infections such as Candida were recognized centuries ago as an indicator of much larger underlying diseases such as diabetes mellitus, malignant tumors, and chronic infections (such of the miners' canary.)

When antibiotics are used, there is a flip-flop in the balance of the natural occurring flora in the mouth (and elsewhere) where the normal flora is damaged by the antibiotic therapy to the advantage of the fungus, which then blooms.

Damage to the mucous membranes and to the salivary glands also allow for Candida colonization. Dry mouth (xerostomia) upsets the balance of microorganisms in the oral cavity. When the delicate balance of normal and abnormal bacteria is disturbed, an overgrowth of this fungus may occur."

Please note that Candidiasis is a fungus, not a bacterium, and an overgrowth of it should not be confused with bacterial vaginosis, 11 a completely different type of infection that's caused by an imbalance of bacterial flora in the vagina.

Since it's a fungus rather than a bacterium, a yeast infection is **not** treated with an antibiotic—in fact, as I've already alluded to above, antibiotics are notorious for *triggering* yeast infections. Therefore, most doctors will recommend a topical or oral fungal treatment if you are diagnosed with a yeast infection. <sup>12</sup> But other, non-pharmaceutical ways of addressing Candida overgrowth are also available, which we'll discuss later.

There are three main types of Candidiasis: 13

### 1. Oropharyngeal Candidiasis

Commonly referred to as thrush, this yeast infection occurs in the form of whitish-yellow patches in your mouth and on your tongue and throat.

Normally, C. albicans is not a problem in your mouth, as it grows there along with about 300 species of bacteria that likewise never cause a problem. But when the normal microflora is disturbed by antibiotic therapy or when changes in your immune system and hormonal or mucosal secretions occur, it can grow out of control, and become thrush.<sup>14</sup>



Newborns sometimes get thrush, making it possible for the infection to spread to the mother's nipples during breastfeeding, as new mothers' nipples can tend to crack until nursing is well-established. Those tiny cracks provide opportune places for Candida to move into, and grow.

People with dentures and those who use inhaled corticosteroids such as the asthma inhaler Advair<sup>15</sup> are also susceptible to thrush, as well as those with compromised immune systems, for example, people with AIDS or anyone undergoing chemotherapy or other cancer treatments.

According to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), thrush isn't as common as genital yeast infections. But it's still estimated that 5 to 7 percent of babies under a month old will get a thrush infection; nearly 20 percent of cancer patients will get it;<sup>16</sup> and 90 percent of HIV-infected persons will become infected with it.<sup>17</sup>

Additionally, people with organ transplants, or who have cirrhosis of the liver<sup>18</sup> or diabetes, and, again, those who use antibiotics may have an increased risk for oral candidiasis.

Usually doctors can tell whether you have thrush by simply looking in your mouth for the tell-tale signs of the whitish, yellow patches. On the other hand, *esophageal* candidiasis may be so deep in your throat

that it can't easily be detected by sight alone, so if you don't have visible patches in your mouth, you need to watch for other symptoms such as:19

- Burning pain in the mouth or throat<sup>20</sup>
- Tiny cracks at the corners of your mouth
- Altered taste, especially when eating spicy or sweet foods
- Difficulty swallowing
- Chest pain accompanied by difficulty swallowing

Candidiasis of the esophagus is also often found in HIV patients, and occasionally in those on inhaled corticosteroids. Diagnosis of esophageal Candidiasis is made with an upper endoscopy that shows white and/or yellow lesions on the surface of the esophagus.<sup>21</sup>

In a worst-case scenario, an oral Candida infection can spread from the mouth, down the esophagus, and into the gastrointestinal tract, where it can move into the organs of the body and ultimately into the blood stream, causing an infection known as Invasive Candidiasis, or an even more deadly condition, Candida sepsis.

That's why critically ill patients must be carefully watched for any sign of a yeast infection—it's estimated that about 5 percent of all cases of severe sepsis and septic shock are caused by an invasive Candida infection. A third of those cases occur right in the hospital setting, usually in the intensive care unit, making invasive Candidiasis the fourth most common bloodstream infection in the US, with 40 to 60 percent of the patients who get it, dying from it.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2. Invasive Candidiasis

Invasive Candidiasis, or Candidemia, is a serious infection of the blood, brain, eyes, heart, bones, and other parts of the body. As I've already noted, this bloodstream infection is the fourth most common hospital-acquired infection (HAI) in the US, and is responsible for 40 percent of blood stream hospital infections.<sup>23</sup>

Invasive Candidiasis occurs when your immune system becomes so weakened and vulnerable that it allows the fungus to leave its normal burrowing spots and spread throughout your body. It's also possible in rare cases to be infected with Candidemia by an outside source, such as from



healthcare workers' hands or by contaminated devices<sup>24</sup> used in the hospital setting.

Various other spots in hospitals where Candida has been found are on foods, countertops, air-conditioning vents, floors, and respirators.<sup>25</sup> (This contamination is solely *topical*—meaning the contamination is ON the source, not in the air around it, as Candida is NOT an airborne infection<sup>26</sup>.)

Even if you're not in the hospital, having a central venous catheter or port for chemotherapy can still make you more susceptible to Candidemia.

According to the CDC and Medscape,<sup>27</sup> other individuals who may be especially at risk for invasive Candidiasis include:<sup>28</sup>

- Patients in an intensive care unit (ICU)
- People who have weakened immune systems because of an organ transplant
- People with diabetes
- People with neutropenia (very low count of neutrophils, a type of white blood cell)
- People with kidney failure or who are on dialysis

- People who have had recent surgery, especially gastrointestinal surgery
- People with burns or other severe trauma
- Those who have been on mechanical ventilation longer than 3 days

I can't stress enough how serious an illness invasive Candidiasis is, mainly because it can be very difficult to treat once it's spread to your vital organs. It can even be fatal: the death rate for patients who get hospital-acquired invasive Candidiasis is between 30 and 50 percent and increasing!<sup>29</sup>

It's also a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in premature infants within the first six weeks of life, affecting 4 to 8 percent of extremely low-birth-weight infants, with a 30 percent death rate.<sup>30</sup>

That's why you want to be sure that you and your medical team are taking every precaution possible to prevent you from getting this disease if you are in any of the above risk categories, or are hospitalized in an Intensive Care Unit (ICU).

The most common symptoms of invasive Candidiasis are fever and chills that don't improve after treatment for suspected bacterial infections. Skin rash, malaise, muscle aches, vision changes, low blood pressure, abdominal pain and headaches or neurological deficits can also be symptoms.<sup>31</sup>

About 16 percent of patients with Candidemia also experience serious eye complications, with the majority developing an inflammation of the choroid and retina of the eye, which is called chorioretinitis.<sup>32</sup> Because chorioretinitis can potentially blind you, if you get Candidemia, it's very important to be checked for chorioretinitis, and quickly treated if you're found to have it.<sup>33</sup>

### 3. Genital/Vulvovaginal Candidiasis

Diagnosed in up to 40 percent of women with vaginal complaints, this is what most women call a yeast infection. Yeast infections are the second-most common cause of vaginitis after bacterial vaginosis.<sup>34</sup>

Genital Candidiasis is not a fatal disease, but as anyone who has had it can attest, it can be both annoying and unpleasant.

Certain conditions can enhance your susceptibility for getting this yeast infection,<sup>35</sup> including pregnancy, diabetes, a weakened immune system due to chronic or acute disease, and use of antibiotics, particularly long-term courses of antibiotics.

Additionally, some studies have shown that both bacterial vaginosis and a yeast infection may contribute to your susceptibility of acquiring HIV, so preventing a yeast infection or treating it quickly if you have one may help lower your chances of HIV infection if you are in a risk category for HIV.<sup>36</sup>

While women are the ones usually talking about having a yeast infection, genital Candidiasis isn't limited only to women: men can get it too. That's why if you're a male and you are experiencing some of the symptoms of a genital yeast infection, you should be tested for it so you can begin a proper line of treatment right away if you're positive for it.

Males may also come down with a Candida inflammation of the prepuce of their penis, a condition called balanitis, or balanoposthitis. While it's not technically considered a sexually transmitted infection, experts say that balanitis *can* be acquired sexually, especially if you're uncircumcised or diabetic.<sup>37</sup>

For this reason, uninfected males may want to refrain from sexual activity when they or their partner have an infection, since the act can irritate the penis and possibly cause a rash or itching, even if you don't end up catching the actual infection.<sup>38</sup>

For women, research shows that a yeast infection is more likely to occur in those of child-bearing age—especially during pregnancy<sup>39</sup>—than in postmenopausal women, with an increased frequency of the infection reported during the premenstrual week.<sup>40</sup> However, if you're menopausal and on hormone

replacement therapy, new research shows that your risk of getting a yeast infection will continue as long as you are on HRT<sup>41</sup>.

## Do You Have Any of These Behavioral Risk Factors for Candida Overgrowth?

For women, there are certain behavioral risk factors that can increase your chances of getting a yeast infection. While the behaviors aren't necessarily "bad" in and of themselves, studies show they still can up your chances of getting a yeast overgrowth. Some of those risk factors are:<sup>42</sup>

- Frequent sexual intercourse
- Receptive oral sex
- ➤ Using high-estrogen oral contraceptives. 43, 44 condoms, and/or spermicides
- Frequent use of panty liners or pantyhose (only if you're prone to recurrent infections)

Other significant risk factors for both males and females include:45

- Antibiotic use (in females, 28 to 33 percent of Candidiasis cases occur because antibiotics have altered the bacterial microflora of their vaginal and gastrointestinal tracts)
- Uncontrolled diabetes
- > Having high reproductive hormone levels
- Genetic predisposition to yeast infections
- ➤ Smoking<sup>46</sup>

When it comes to re-infection (recurrence), recent research shows that engaging in oral sex (cunnilingus) may increase a woman's chances of having a recurrent infection,<sup>47</sup> so it may be wise to simply forego sexual relations until your or your partner's infection is completely cleared.

Male or female, as with oral and invasive Candidiasis, immunocompromised persons are especially susceptible to genital yeast infections. In fact, about 90 percent of all people with HIV/AIDS will eventually develop a yeast infection of some sort.<sup>48</sup>

### What Are the Symptoms of a Genital Yeast Infection?

Noticeable symptoms of a genital yeast infection can include all or just a few of the following: 49, 50, 51

#### In women:

- o Genital itching and burning
- Curdy vaginal discharge
- Painful or difficult urination
- o Painful intercourse
- Redness or soreness of the vagina
- Patchy red areas on and around the vulva
- Vulvar edema and fissures

#### In men:52

- o Itchy rash on the penis
- Red skin
- Swelling
- Irritation and soreness
- Inflammation
- White patches
- Thick, lumpy discharge under the foreskin with an unpleasant odor
- Difficulty pulling back the foreskin
- Painful urination



### Pain during sex

## **How Common Are Vaginal Yeast Infections?**

According to the National Institutes of Health, most women—about 75 percent—will have a vaginal yeast infection at some point in their lives,<sup>53</sup> with 40 to 50 percent of that number getting recurrent (four or more a year) episodes of it.

That said, I would be remiss not to acknowledge some very new research questioning these numbers. It seems that none of the medical literature is able to cite an *original*, *peer-reviewed* study validating the 75 percent figure, which appears to be wholly anecdotal, with citations of that number compounding over the years without a base study ever having been done.<sup>54</sup>

According to the critics who pointed this out, Sujit D. Rathod and Patricia A. Buffer:

"The regular reference to these undocumented estimates in the literature has developed an 'unfounded authority', which masks the need for further study of the epidemiologic features of vulvovaginal candidiasis.

In fact, the original author 'did not purport to estimate the lifetime incidence of vulvovaginal candidiasis, yet her publications are frequently cited by others to support the 75% figure'."

Rathod and Buffer don't deny that yeast infections are extremely common in women; they're simply suggesting that an official study be done to verify the numbers.

I agree that such a study should be done, especially since a 2013 study on 6,000 women in six countries showed that the number of women who have ever experienced a yeast infection could be as low as 29 to 49 percent, depending on where you live in the world. For example, vulvovaginal candidiasis is more of a significant health problem in Western countries than other places around the globe.<sup>55</sup>

Two other studies, which relied solely on women's anecdotal reports, are more than two decades old, and quite limited in their reporting. One from 20 years ago showed that just 55 percent of university women had at least one infection by the time they were 25.<sup>56</sup>

The other *estimated* that 56 percent of American women nationwide will have at least one episode of vulvo-vaginal Candidiasis in their lifetime.<sup>57</sup> Both found that African-American women are more likely than white women to report having a yeast infection.

Judging from just these few examples, there does appear to be some discrepancy in the numbers, depending on which study you reference.

However, until an actual baseline study is done, for the purposes of this E-book, I'm going to go ahead and cite the data from the major medical literature and the National Institutes of Health, which is that 75 percent of women will get a yeast infection in their lifetime, and that about half of those will get a repeat infection.

### What Other 'Down There' Yeast Infections Are There?

Another "down there" type of yeast infection that affects the genital/urinary tract, Candiduria, is common among the elderly, hospitalized, and immunocompromised persons, as well as newborns.<sup>58</sup>

Candiduria is the second-leading cause of catheter-associated urinary tract infections, and it can occur very quickly after a catheterization: a new study shows that C. albicans was detected in over 69 percent of patients within 48 hours of a catheter insertion.<sup>59</sup>

## **Candida Overgrowth in Your Gut**

Much of the focus on Candida in the past has been on vaginal yeast infections and how to treat the symptoms. But more recent research has centered on the gastrointestinal system and Candida's ability to both colonize the gut benignly along with your normal microbiota, as well as to contribute to inflammation<sup>60</sup> that triggers diseases of the gut.

For example, irritable bowel syndrome, <sup>61</sup> Leaky Gut Syndrome, Crohn's disease, <sup>62</sup> and inflammatory bowel disease <sup>63</sup> have all been linked to yeast overgrowth in various studies.

Not surprisingly, it's also been shown that patients with ulcerative colitis and gastric ulcers tend to have more severe disease if they



have Candida overgrowths in their guts. Victims of Candida overgrowth also have more trouble getting well, apparently because the overgrowth can delay healing of inflammatory lesions, which can lead to a cycle of disease that promotes even more inflammation.<sup>64</sup>

Even more serious is when Candida overgrowth occurs deep within the intestinal tract itself. If it grows out of control there, the infection can create structures called rhizoids, which act like little screws that drill into the walls of your intestines, penetrating tiny perforations, grooves, crevices and weak points<sup>65</sup> that might already be there naturally, and where foods, fats, and toxins can lodge and subsequently "leak" into your bloodstream.<sup>66</sup> This is called Intestinal Hyper-permeability, commonly known as Leaky Gut Syndrome.

When Leaky Gut happens, the body will start to fight what it believes is a foreign substance, and will form antibodies that not only wreak havoc on your entire immune system, but can trigger food allergies<sup>67</sup> as well as continue the Leaky Gut cycle.

In turn, this can cause vitamin and mineral deficiencies in your body, which lower your immune system even more, causing another vicious circle of gastrointestinal and autoimmune problems—and with them a feeling of fatigue, listlessness, and often, depression when it seems like you just don't know what's wrong with you.

## Leaky Gut Syndrome: Where It All Begins

About 30 years ago, Dr. William G. Crook, a physician who I long admired and respected before he passed in 2002, wrote a groundbreaking book that connected certain health conditions to yeast infections. In it,<sup>68</sup> Dr. Crook named specific physiological and autoimmune, allergy, or allergy-like symptoms that he attributed to C. albicans overgrowth, such as:

Food cravings (especially for carbohydrates, yeast's favorite food)

Bloating

Liver overload as it tries to deal with all these toxins

Decreased thyroid function and metabolism because the liver is busy elsewhere

Tremendous fluid retention as your body tries to dilute the toxins

Fat cells swelling as they trap toxins as a means to protect the rest of the body

Gas from yeast due to its normal metabolic functions

Toxins that block thyroid hormone function

Hormonal imbalances on all levels (known as pseudo-hormones or false hormones) caused by environmental chemicals blocking receptor sites

Weight gain due to the stress of toxins and feeling awful create excessive release of cortisol, the chronic stress hormone, which has an added negative effect of making it nearly impossible to lose weight

When you look at these symptoms in the context of what you might be suffering due to an unaddressed yeast infection, it's easy to understand how it's possible for something like depression to also be a manifestation of uncontrolled Candida overgrowth, if only because the weight gain, bloating and food cravings make you feel depressed.

Unfortunately, it took nearly three decades for conventional medicine to recognize that Dr. Crook was on to something—that, indeed, a yeast infection not only can disturb the gut enough to trigger immune responses that mimic allergies, but *can actually cause an allergy* to C. albicans itself!<sup>69</sup>

For example the literature now shows that:

- Chronic urticarial (hives) can be caused by a hypersensitivity to C. albicans<sup>70</sup>
- ➤ Women who don't respond to the usual antifungal agents for C. albicans might actually be allergic to C. albicans itself<sup>71</sup>
- Perennial allergic rhinitis is often tied to recurrent vaginitis caused by yeast infections<sup>72</sup>
- C. albicans is a potent allergen that responds to allergen immunotherapy in women with recurrent vaginal yeast infections<sup>73</sup>
- ➤ C. albicans aggravates inflammation in the gut<sup>74</sup>
- C. albicans can trigger certain cytokines that produce autoimmune, anti-inflammatory responses<sup>75</sup>

And today, Dr. Christina Zielinski, lead author of a 2012 study on C. albicans and autoimmune responses, has picked up where Dr. Crook left off, telling Science Daily that she is "...convinced that an imbalance in our microbial microflora has a decisive influence on the development of chronic inflammatory illnesses like rheumatism, Morbus Crohn and psoriasis."

And part of the guilty microflora causing this imbalance and chronic illness is Candida overgrowth, Zielinski says.

With science now solidly behind the idea that a yeast infection can trigger allergies and allergy-like symptoms, as well as alter your gut balance and cause numerous autoimmune and inflammatory problems, it's easy to understand how the symptoms below fit in to Dr. Crook's original analysis.

# Signs of Candidiasis That You Wouldn't Immediately Guess

Some common conditions connected with Candida overgrowth in your gut, or exacerbated by it that you may not immediately recognize are:

Irritable bowel syndrome <sup>76, 77</sup>	Vaginitis <sup>78</sup>	Food allergies <sup>79</sup>
Migraines <sup>80</sup>	Asthma and Rhinitis <sup>81, 82</sup>	Chronic Fatigue <sup>83</sup>
PMS <sup>84</sup>	Fibromyalgia and arthritis <sup>85</sup>	Leaky gut86
Cancer <sup>87</sup>	Periodontitis <sup>88</sup>	Depression and/or anxiety89
Endocarditis <sup>90</sup>	Pyelonephritis <sup>91</sup>	Esophagitis <sup>92</sup> and Gastritis <sup>93</sup>
Atopic Dermatitis <sup>94</sup>	Myocarditis <sup>95</sup>	Parkinson's Disease <sup>96</sup>

As you can see, the list is long and varied, but sadly, it's by no means all-inclusive or definitive, as the science behind the link between Candida overgrowth in the gut and chronic illness is ever-growing. What is definitive, though, is that this simple graph highlights just how important your gut health is to your entire well-being. That's why the following two conditions may also be symptoms of Candidiasis.

# **Could a Yeast Infection Be Making You Fat?**

According to the work of Dr. Crook and modern-day specialists in hypothyroidism: quite possibly, yes.

Repeating what the Oral Cancer Foundation said about C. albicans being a predictor of chronic disease, researchers already knew as far back as 1972 that chronic mucocutaneous Candidiasis can precede a diagnosis of hypothyroidism<sup>97</sup>—and as we now know today, hypothyroidism even on a small, almost undetectable scale can lead to weight gain, and obesity on a larger scale.<sup>98</sup>



This is how it happens when it involves Candida: Leaky gut caused by yeast overgrowth allows toxins to enter your bloodstream. These

toxins can cause an imbalance in your thyroid hormone, which can cause an excess production of cortisol, which can lead to several different autoimmune diseases, all of which work directly *against* any weight loss goals you're trying to achieve.

In fact, if you have been exercising and eating right for your nutritional type with REAL foods (we'll discuss real foods later) but you're STILL not losing weight, it could be due to yeast overgrowth in your gut. In fact, it's quite possible that with some people, an inability to lose weight is their ONLY symptom of Candidiasis.

### Do You Crave Sugar and/or Carbs or Feel Run Down? Yeast Might Be to Blame

Before we talk about how to diagnose, prevent and treat Candidiasis, here's one, additional reason why a yeast overgrowth and leaky gut can pave the way for health problems.

One sign that Candida might be taking hold of your body is feeling "run down" and developing a craving for sugars and carbohydrates, as this is the main fuel for the growing amounts of yeast in both your mouth and intestines.

Remember how I said earlier that a protein with a sugar (glycogen) attached to it causes the normally round C. albicans cells to elongate and grow out of control? Well, glycogen is the end product of what



happens when you eat more carbohydrates and sugar than what your body can handle. Don't misinterpret—your body *needs* carbohydrates to live. Converted into glucose, this is what it uses for fuel.

But when you provide more fuel than your body needs, the extra fuel gets stored in your liver and muscles in the form of glycogen—setting up a perfect breeding ground for C. albicans.

What happens next is that the more sugar and grains you eat, the more the yeast grows out of control,<sup>99</sup> causing something called "gut fermentation." Eventually, this will weaken your immune system, which in turn can allow the yeast to infiltrate various other organs, which subsequently makes you even sicker.

Another problem is that once Candida overgrowth occurs, its toxic byproducts are regularly entering your bloodstream. In some people with chronic yeast infections, two of these toxins, alcohol and acetaldehyde <sup>101</sup> (the breakdown product of alcohol that causes hangovers), are in such high amounts that these folks may actually end up feeling as if they were intoxicated. And if that weren't enough, new research shows that this toxic overload produces such high mutagenic amounts of acetaldehyde that it could even lead to certain mucosal cancers!<sup>102</sup>

Acetaldehyde also reacts with the neurotransmitter dopamine, which is why people with yeast overgrowth can experience mental and emotional disturbances such as anxiety, depression, poor concentration and a feeling of being "spaced-out."

## **Candida and Cancer: A Confounding Connection**

The idea that cancer is a fungus has been batted around for several decades. In fact, fungal infections of various sorts are often associated with cancer, particularly C. albicans. However, to date, no direct, scientific evidence has shown that cancer itself is a fungus. Rather, it simply appears that fungi of all kinds, including Candida, can more easily grow where cancer is growing, most likely because your body is in such an immunocompromised state when you have cancer.

To that end, in 2003, two experts in cancer, infectious diseases and Candidiasis, Kenneth V.I. Rolston and Gerald P. Bodey, wrote a chapter in a cancer medicine book discussing the frequency of fungal infections in cancer patients.<sup>103</sup> The numbers with deep-seated fungal



infections were huge, they said: 70 to 80 percent of patients. But Rolston and Bodey never attributed the cancer to the fungus, nor did they call cancer a fungus. Instead, they only talked about C. albicans' opportunistic ability to become a co-infection with cancer, with the help of antibiotics the patients were taking for other infections.

In 2010 another group of scientists published a study in the Journal of Oral Microbiology<sup>104</sup> on the association of Candida infection with cancer. They wrote their report with a caveat, stating that the evidence between any kind of fungus causing cancer is weak.

That said, they acknowledged that "for many years Candida spp. have been implicated in various epithelial cancers," and that oral Candida infections with leukoplakia leading to oral cancer, for example, are well recognized.

But whether or not C. albicans can actually *cause* cancer is still up for debate, the scientists said: the association/correlation is there, and the ability to *promote* carcinogenesis is there, but definitive proof of a yeast infection *causing* cancer is lacking, even though some cancer specialists in the last couple decades have claimed to have treated and even "cured" cancer with antifungal drugs.

From my standpoint, this is important because the theory that cancer is a fungus still pops up in the media every once in a while. At one point many years ago, I even talked about this idea, but I've since decided that the evidence that cancer is a fungus just isn't there, at least not yet.

## So How Does Yeast Grow Out of Control to Begin With?

Now that we've talked about the health problems that occur when yeast overwhelms your digestive tract and subsequently your entire body, here is the explanation of how this actually happens:

Inside your gut are 100 trillion microorganisms—about three pounds' worth—that line your intestinal tract. About 60 percent of these microbiota are bacteria—up to 1,000 different species. But other things live in there too, all calling your gut microbiome home: as many as 66 different fungi<sup>105</sup> including Candida, as well as protozoa<sup>106</sup> and single-celled microorganisms called archaea, are also in there.

In the healthy human gut, these microorganisms live harmoniously in what science calls a "commensal" relationship, meaning they live together without harming you or each other. Normally, as long as it's balanced, this is an extremely complex living system that aggressively protects your body from outside offenders.

But as soon as the balance begins to tip, the "bad" microflora can take over and flourish.

As I mentioned already, this tipping occurs with certain health conditions that compromise your immune system, as well as when you're taking antibiotics and certain other medications.

If you don't have one of those health conditions, however, or if you're not taking a "suspect" yeast-growing medication like antibiotics, oral contraceptives or corticosteroids, then your *diet* is most likely the culprit, mainly in the form of overconsumption of carbohydrates and sugars.

That's right—your diet, the primary influencer of how all those gut microorganisms work together, may be the singular cause of your yeast infection nightmare.

Not a lot of people paid attention to Dr. Crook when he pioneered this idea 30 years ago, but today the association between diet and the balance of the human gut microbiome is well-established.<sup>107</sup> Study<sup>108</sup> after study<sup>109</sup> after study<sup>110</sup>—and more—shows that an excess of carbohydrates and sugar in the gut in any form (dextrose, glucose and fructose) is a perfect breeding ground for a yeast infection.

That's why, to truly treat Candida overgrowth at its source, you absolutely MUST address your nutritional status and gut health. Two other immune system irritants—emotional stress and exposure to environmental toxins—can also lower your immune system and set you up for an infection, so it's important to address those issues too.

To sum up what we've learned so far:

- Taking antibiotics can kill both your good and bad bacteria
- Taking other medications such as birth control pills and corticosteroids can promote yeast growth
- Exposure to environmental toxins can lower your immune system, setting you up for a yeast infection
- A diet high in sugars and carbohydrates literally "feeds" Candida cells, prompting the cells to elongate and grow out of control
- · Chronic stress, which impacts your immune system, can also contribute to yeast overgrowth
- Just treating your symptoms is not sufficient; the only way to effectively prevent and/or treat a yeast
  infection is to address your gut health through proper nutrition and diet, along with addressing whatever
  triggers you may have that encourage Candida overgrowth

# How Do I Know for Sure That Candidiasis Is to Blame for My Symptoms?

Often you don't know for sure, and that's why so many people are suffering needlessly. There is a symptom checklist, however, that Dr. Crook once used with his patients, and that has been adopted by a certified nutritional consultant, Ann Boroch, who has written her own book on curing Candida.

A graduate of the International Society of Naturopathy, Boroch cured herself of Multiple Sclerosis and has since spent 20 years studying Candida causes and treatments. She's dedicated her book, "The Candida Cure: Yeast, Fungus & Your Health," to Dr. Crook. His checklist is in her book, along with a 90-day program that may help you treat and cure your own yeast infection.



If you do choose to utilize the checklist, and if you're experiencing some of the symptoms we've talked about, then I suggest that you ask your doctor to check whether Candidiasis might be involved.

And—one more time—you should bring up this topic especially if you have any of the following predisposing factors:<sup>111, 112</sup>

- You've had a recent surgical procedure
- You have a prosthetic device implanted somewhere in your body such as catheters or a port for chemotherapy or dialysis
- You wear dentures
- You have a periodontal disease such as gingivitis or tooth decay
- You are on corticosteroid therapy
- You are on chemotherapy
- You are diabetic
- You are on prolonged antibiotic therapy
- You are obese

Once you've discussed your symptoms and risk factors with your doctor, you can begin the journey toward total wellness.

At this point, I can't emphasize enough how important it is to see a doctor who can diagnose exactly what you're treating *before you treat it*. I realize that with conditions like diaper rash, skin infections and vaginal yeast infections, many people just want a quick-fix, whether it's from easy-to-get, over-the-counter anti-fungal creams or through holistic alternative health methods. Unfortunately, when the symptoms go away, too many people assume they are cured—when they may not be cured at all.

That's because, in reality, if you're only treating symptoms, you're doing nothing about the underlying cause of the yeast overgrowth.

For example: With diaper rash, the diaper provides a moist, warm environment that's a perfect breeding ground for yeast. If your baby has been taking antibiotics (or if you have been taking them and breastfeeding), your or your baby's body's good gut bacteria may have been killed, paving the way for yeast infections to occur.

Therefore, the CAUSE of the yeast infection is the disruption, or dysbiosis, of the gastrointestinal tract—which means you need to do something to restore your baby's or your gut's microflora balance if you're ever going to totally cure the rash. The same goes with a vaginal yeast infection: just treating the symptoms until they go away doesn't mean you've cured the problem.

The bottom line is if you don't deal with your body as a whole, aside from potentially facing a lifetime of recurring yeast infections, you could eventually face systemic Candidiasis, a condition that potentially can be fatal.

www.mercola.com Page 12 | 23

#### What Tests Are There for Yeast Infections?

As I noted in the introduction, a normal Candida colonization in your body has no symptoms or signs of disease.

But if you do have symptoms such as those we've discussed so far, your doctor can take swab samples of visible infections and make a diagnosis based on a microscopic examination and antigen tests. The culture will reveal the species of the organisms causing the infection, which in turn will help determine your course of treatment.<sup>113</sup>

In addition to the lab culture, sometimes your doctor will take a stool sample because yeast cells can be detectable in your feces. The stool sample will help determine whether there is a Candida overgrowth in your intestinal tract.

An additional test is a urinalysis,<sup>114</sup> which will aid in detecting genitourinary Candidiasis. And, since September 2014, a blood test has been available for detecting the presence of five Candida species, including C. albicans, in your blood.<sup>115</sup>

You may also be asked to have an endoscopy, with or without a biopsy, if your doctor suspects a yeast infection in your esophagus. 116

In women, these tests are done in addition to vaginal swabs because the vagina is not the only place that can harbor a yeast infection. And obviously, you can't treat an internal infection with an over-the-counter drug meant only for topical use.

### What Treatments Are Best for Yeast Infections?

If you have a yeast infection right now, most conventional doctors will probably order a topical or oral azole antifungal drug in various dosages that you take for varying lengths of time, depending on the severity of your infection. These azoles are available by prescription and over-the-counter, depending on the strength.

Unfortunately C. albicans is becoming more and more resistant to azoles, 117 which means you may not be satisfactorily "cured" with them. Scientists are desperately searching for new drugs as well as alternative methods of treating C. albicans, but it can take a decade or more to develop a brand-new drug and bring it to market. Hence, the researchers have been looking at drugs already approved for other diseases that might also be helpful in treating Candidiasis. So far they've found about 15 possibilities which your doctor may know about, and may have you try.

However, your doctor may also suggest alternative treatments, such as a gelatin capsule of 600 mg of boric acid, which you insert inside your vagina for a vaginal yeast infection. (But be aware: the success rate for boric acid is only about 70 percent.)

Therefore, if you are already facing Candidiasis, I highly recommend working with a natural health care practitioner who is familiar with the latest, science-based research for fighting Candida with non-pharmaceutical products, and who specializes in treating yeast overgrowth.

# There Are Other Natural and Inexpensive Candida Treatments

It's noteworthy that it costs the U.S. healthcare system \$2 billion to \$4 billion a year to treat Candidiasis with prescription and over-the-counter drugs. But what if I told you that dozens of studies, many published within the past few months, show that there are other things on the market that not only cost a fraction of what prescription drugs cost, but are all natural and effective to treat Candida overgrowth *right now, without a prescription*?

It's true. A compilation of the most recent medical research possible has shown that certain essential oils, as well as Manuka honey and coconut oil are all incredibly safe and effective in preventing and treating Candidiasis.

That's right: Manuka honey, coconut oil and select essential oils. And the science is solid.

For example, very recent studies show that:

- Coriander<sup>119</sup> and Ceylon cinnamon "drastically" affect C. albicans' ability to grow
- ♣ Both Ajwain and Black Cumin irreversibly damage Candida cells, stopping them in their tracks
- Dill seed kills Candida cells
- Manuka honey "significantly" inhibits C. albicans
- ♣ Pelargonium roseum (Geraniacea) completely inhibits C. albicans' growth
- ♣ Coconut oil and cinnamon mixed together in an "aroma candy" was effective against oral Candidiasis 120

The above studies—and more referenced in the graph below—all show highly effective, safe, natural ways of fighting and preventing Candida overgrowth:

Coriander <sup>121, 122, 123</sup>	Cinnamomum cassia <sup>124</sup>	Geranium, Geraniacea <sup>125</sup>
Thyme <sup>126</sup>	Lemon, basil, clove <sup>127</sup>	Raw organic honey <sup>128, 129</sup>
Ceylon cinnamon <sup>130</sup>	Coconut oil (capric acid) <sup>131, 132</sup>	Angelica major <sup>133</sup>
Ajwain, Black cumin <sup>134</sup>	Curcumin <sup>135</sup>	Lemongrass <sup>136</sup>
Tea tree <sup>137, 138</sup>	Dill seed <sup>139</sup>	Chinese persimmon <sup>140</sup>

Most natural health doctors will be up to date on these studies, so I urge you to find one if you are truly interested in treating and preventing yeast infections once and for all, with science-based, natural health treatments.

A word of caution, though, before you decide to bypass doctors and try to treat yourself: pure, commercial-grade essential oils can be very potent, and it can be very easy to take the wrong dosage in the wrong way, or even the wrong oil. (For example, Tea tree oil should not be taken orally.)

That's why I advise you to find a practitioner who is familiar with essential oils and the studies, and who knows the proper use, application and dosages for your condition.

## What Quick, Natural 'Right-Now' Treatments Can I Try Before I Go to the Doctor?

While instant relief from a serious yeast infection just isn't possible, you may be able to relieve some of the pain and itching that often accompanies both Candida and non-albicans infections with one of the following home remedies until you can get to the doctor:

- Boric acid therapy, usually in the form of suppositories that you can purchase over-the-counter or make yourself with a powered form of boric acid and size 0 gelatin capsules.<sup>141, 142</sup> Once difficult to find, boric acid capsules and suppositories are widely available at major pharmacies, and they have years of positive reports and studies backing their use.
  - Studies show that the effectiveness of Boric acid is very high in diabetic women,<sup>143</sup> and especially in women with chronic resistant yeast infections. If you find that the Boric acid irritates your external genitalia you can protect the tissue with vitamin E oil (preferred).
- Inserting a garlic clove or a tampon with garlic oil<sup>144</sup> on it into your vagina in the morning and an acidophilus capsule<sup>145</sup> in your vagina in the evening
- Preparing a retention douche with bentonite clay<sup>146</sup>
- Soaking a tampon with diluted tea tree oil (use a solution of one and a half tablespoons of tea tree oil and one cup of water) and keeping it in your vagina overnight
- Applying a paste of plain, "live" yogurt that has Lactobacillus acidophilus strains in it to the vulva and vaginal opening<sup>147, 148</sup>

www.mercola.com Page 14|23

Please note that these "treatments" should only be temporary, if for no other reason than they are briefly treating symptoms, and not the root cause of your infection. That's why I strongly urge that you quickly schedule an appointment with the doctor of your choice who can help you begin long-lasting, *effective*, science-based treatment against your Candida infection.

## **How to Keep Candida From Taking Over Your Body**

Remember, although yeast overgrowth can feel like it's taking over your life, your body is more than capable of fighting back, and winning, if you give it the right tools. In order to prevent yeast overgrowth, you'll need to create an environment that makes it more difficult for the fungus to thrive. Typically, you can do this by making the following lifestyle changes. As you can see, these steps include a major focus on rebalancing your gut's microbiome with whole, organic, fresh and fermented foods and/or probiotics:



#### 1. Eat the Best Diet for Your Overall Health

Avoid added sugars in your diet, as well as sugar-enriched and carbohydrate-rich foods that convert into excess glucose in your body. This restricts the amount of fuel the yeast in your gut has available to it.

Ideally, you'll want to keep your added sugar levels to a minimum and your total fructose below 25 grams per day, or as low as 15 grams per day if you have insulin/leptin resistance or any related disorders.

Boroch's book also has a comprehensive list of good foods to eat for fighting Candida, as well as foods to avoid, many of which are the same ones that I advise eating and/or avoiding in my nutritional health plan.

Generally speaking, you should:

- Focus on eating a diet rich in <u>nutrient-dense</u> foods including meats, chicken, eggs, seeds and nuts, vegetables, and healthy oils (from <u>free range</u> animals and organically-grown foods). Ideally you should also plan your diet in tune with your <u>nutritional type</u>.
- Replace refined carbohydrates with healthy fats such as avocados, coconuts and coconut oil, along with butter from raw, grass-fed organic milk, and raw nuts. Avoid all trans fats or hydrogenated fats including margarine, vegetable oils, and butter-"like" spreads. Also eliminate gluten (primarily wheat) from your diet, especially processed grains (breads).
- Speed this along by <u>eating REAL food</u>, meaning avoiding all processed foods and severely limiting restaurant foods, and eating as many fresh, organic foods as possible.
- Get plenty of high-quality, animal-based omega-3 fats. This typically means increasing your intake of animal based omega-3 fats, such as krill oil, while decreasing your intake of damaged omega-6 fats (think processed vegetable oils and trans fats).

For more information on what a REAL food diet looks like, download a graphic of my <u>Food Pyramid for</u> Optimal Health.

You can also try <u>intermittent fasting</u>, which has lots of health benefits beyond simply providing you with another option for getting healthy and staying healthy.

www.mercola.com Page 15|23

### 2. Make Exercise a Lifelong Habit

Once you've started on the healthier diet, exercising will also begin to rebalance the levels of neurotransmitters in your brain and improve your mood, which will then help you reduce stress in your life. Make feeling better your goal. If you're new to exercising, start out gradually and increase your activity level, for example, by adding a walk to your daily routine (or a longer walk if you're already doing this), and then build on strengthening your body with core exercises and strength training.

<u>High-intensity interval training</u> (HIIT) involving short bursts of high-intensity exercise with gentle recovery periods, are central to my <u>Peak Fitness</u> routine, and will help you on your way to total fitness.

# 3. Nourish Your Gut With Plenty of Good Bacteria

You will want to increase your probiotic (good bacteria) intake with a high-quality probiotic supplement containing Lactobacillus<sup>149, 150</sup> or by eating cultured and fermented foods.

Fermented foods were abundant in your ancestors' diets, and they're just as good for you now as they were then. Besides optimizing your immune system and working to get your gut microbiota back in balance, fermented and cultured foods are cost-effective.

There are many cultured and fermented foods that you can easily make at home, such as natto, kefir, kimchi, kambucha, yogurt and fermented vegetables of all kinds. These contain the good bacteria that keep your vagina and gastrointestinal tract healthy, and will ultimately replace the overgrowth of Candida with a balanced microbiome.

If you don't enjoy the taste of fermented foods, taking a probiotic supplement can be your next best option (but don't give up on fermented foods easily—start with small amounts and try adding them a teaspoonful at a time to your foods like you would a condiment).

While I generally do not advocate taking a lot of supplements, a high-quality probiotic containing Lactobacillus<sup>151</sup> is something you can choose if you simply can't "stomach" fermented foods. Your probiotic supplement should fulfill the following quality and efficacy criteria:

- > The bacteria strains in the product must be able to survive your stomach acid and bile, so that they reach your intestines alive in adequate numbers
- > The bacteria strains must have health-promoting features
- The probiotic activity must be guaranteed throughout the entire production process, storage period and shelf life of the product

Through my years of clinical practice, I've discovered that no single probiotic supplement works for everyone. But many individuals seem to respond positively to Lactobacillus sporogenes more than any other probiotic, so that is a great place to start.

### 4. Practice Good Hygiene

When it comes to preventing a Candida overgrowth, sometimes the best defense is simply good hygiene.

If you wear dentures, be sure to clean them regularly and according to directions. You may also want to use an antifungal gel when you're wearing them (although I don't recommend that as a regular-basis preventive measure).

If you don't wear dentures, be sure to take care of your dental health so that yeast infections don't have cavities or damaged gums to grow in.

If you are on corticosteroids, always be sure to gargle well after each dose, so the back of your throat isn't a magnet for Candida. Better yet, brush your teeth *and tongue*, along with gargling.

www.mercola.com Page 16|23

If you're in the hospital or at home with a port, make sure that everyone who touches you has washed their hands first. As I already explained, many Candidiasis infections occur in the hospital setting, so don't be shy about asking caretakers if they have washed their hands before attending to you.

### 5. Avoid Exposure to Chemicals and Medications

As we learned earlier, antibiotics, corticosteroids and birth control pills all need to be avoided because these drugs can actually encourage Candida overgrowth.

Paints, household cleaners, perfumes and scents may also cause allergic reactions, as chemical sensitivities are very common in people with yeast overgrowth. You also should avoid other toxins and pollutants including air fresheners, bug sprays, and lawn insecticides and pesticides, especially glyphosate (an herbicide thought to be worse than DDT, and which is listed as probably carcinogenic by the World Health Organization).

### 6. Address Emotional and Psychological Issues

Food cravings, especially those for sweets, often are exacerbated by emotional dependencies rooted in stress, which has a direct impact on fueling inflammation, which ultimately fuels yeast infections.

Developing effective coping mechanisms, therefore, can help you not only feel healthier all over, but ultimately will help fight off yeast infections. Meditation, prayer, physical activity, and exercise are all viable options that help with maintaining emotional and mental equilibrium.



But I also strongly believe in using energy psychology with tools such as the <u>Emotional Freedom</u> <u>Techniques</u> (EFT) to address deeper, oftentimes hidden emotional problems.

### 7. Optimize your vitamin D levels to between 50 and 70 ng/ml

Besides addressing your diet, optimizing your vitamin D level is perhaps one of the most potent ways you can improve your overall health. Additionally, a study published in 2011 in The Journal of Infectious Diseases indicated that high levels of vitamin D3, as well as seasonal sun exposure, can modulate C. albicans with a "profound" anti-inflammatory effect. 152

In summary, a yeast infection can have a number of different causes, and can cause a number of different symptoms. What's important to remember is that while yeast infections are annoying and sometimes dangerous, they can be dealt with and prevented in most cases.

What's most exciting is that the recent literature shows that there are natural, effective and inexpensive ways to deal with Candida overgrowth. And, once you address the points I've presented here, you will have the information you need to take control of your own health to prevent and treat yeast affections.

For more information on simple ways to avoid illnesses of all kinds, and to help your body fix itself, you can also consult my latest book, "Effortless Healing," which offers nine simple ways to start your journey toward optimum health and wellness.



- 1 CDC. Definition of Oral Candidiasis. CDC.gov. February 13, 2014. Online. http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/thrush/definition.html (Accessed July
- <sup>2</sup> Miranda LN, van der Heijden IM, Costa SF, et al. Candida Colonization as a Source for Candidaemia. The Journal of Hospital Infection. May 2009. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19303662/ (Accessed July 2015)

  CDC. Fungal Diseases: Candidiasis. Cdc.gov. June 12, 2015. Online. http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/ (Accessed July 2015)

  Jenkinson HF and Douglas LJ. Chapter 18: Interactions Between Candida Species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed November 2015)

  O'Meara TR, Veri AO, et al. Global Analysis of Fungal Morphology Exposes Mechanisms of Host Cell Escape. Nature Communications. March 31, 2015. Online.
- http://www.nature.com/ncomms/2015/150331/ncomms7741/full/ncomms7741.html (Accessed August 2015)
- Society for Experimental Biology. Stopping Candida in Its Tracks. ScienceDaily. July 3, 2015. Online.
- http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2015/07/150703072618.htm (Accessed August 2015)
- Jenkins HF and Douglas J. Chapter 18: Interactions between Candida species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed September 2015)

  Ruhnke M. Skin and Mucous Membrane Infections. In: Calderone RA, ed. Candida and Candidiasis: ASM Press, Washington DC, pp 307-325. 2002.
- infection.php (Accessed September 2015)

  The Oral Cancer Foundation. Candida Infection. Oralcancerfoundation.org. March 2014. Online. <a href="http://www.oralcancerfoundation.org/complications/candida-1014">http://www.oralcancerfoundation.org/complications/candida-1014</a>
- infection.php (Accessed September 2015)
- 11 Medical News Today. Bacterial Vaginosis: Causes, Symptoms and Treatments. Medicalnewstoday.com. June 30, 2015. Online.
- http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/184622.php (Accessed July 2015)

  12 CDC. Treatment & Outcomes of Genital/Vulvovaginal Candidiasis. CDC.gov. February 13, 2014. Online.
- http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/genital/treatment.html (Accessed July 2015)
- 13 CDC. Fungal Diseases: Candidiasis. CDC.gov. June 12, 2015. Online. http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/ (Accessed July 2015)
- 14 Jenkins HF and Douglas J. Chapter 18: Interactions between Candida species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections, Polymicrobial Diseases, 2002. Online, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed September 2015)

  The GlaxoSmithKline. Advair: Risks and Side Effects for Advair Diskus. Advair.com. July 2015. Online. http://www.advair.com/risks-and-side-effects.html (Accessed September 2015)
- July 2015)

  16 CDC. Oral Candidiasis Statistics. CDC.gov. February 13, 2014. Online. http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/thrush/statistics.html (Accessed July
- <sup>17</sup> Medscape. Candidiasis Pathophysiology. Emedicine.medscape.com. August 18, 2015. Online. <a href="http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/213853-overview#a6">http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/213853-overview#a6</a>
- (Accessed September 2015)

  18 Ou T-M. Huang H-H, et al. Liver Cirrhosis as a Predisposing Factor for Esophageal Candidiasis. Advances in Digestive Medicine. September 2014. Online.
- http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2351979714000474 (Accessed August 2015)

  19 The Oral Cancer Foundation. Candida Infection. Oralcancerfoundation.org. March 2014. Online. http://www.oralcancerfoundation.org/complications/candida-
- infection.php (Accessed September 2015)

  <sup>20</sup> Gurvits GE and Tan A. Burning Mouth Syndrome. World Journal of Gastroenterology. February 7, 2013. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3574592/ (Accessed October 2015)

  21 Pech O. Esophageal Candidiasis. Video Journal and Encyclopedia of GI Endoscopy. June 2013. Online. http://www.video-endoscopy.com/article/S2212-0971%2813%2970029-3/abstract (Accessed August 2015)
- <sup>22</sup> Delaloye J and Calandra T. Invasive Candidiasis as a Cause of Sepsis in the Critically III Patient. Virulence. January 1, 2014. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3916370/ (Accessed September 2015)

  23 American Thoracic Society. Patient Information Series: Candida Infection of the Bloodstream—Candidemia. American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care. October 2013. Online. <a href="http://www.thoracic.org/patients/patient-resources/resources/candidemia.pdf">http://www.thoracic.org/patients/patient-resources/resources/candidemia.pdf</a> (Accessed August 2015)

  <sup>24</sup> CDC. Invasive Candidiasis: Information for Healthcare Professionals about Invasive Candidiasis. CDC.gov. June 12, 2015. Online.

- http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/invasive/health-professionals.html (Accessed July 2015)

  25 Medscape. Candidiasis Pathophysiology. Emedicine.medscape.com. August 18, 2015. Online. http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/213853-overview#a6 (Accessed September 2015)
- Soll DR. Mixed Mycotic Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2485/">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2485/</a> (Accessed October 2015)
   Medscape. Candidiasis Pathophysiology. Emedicine.medscape.com. August 18, 2015. Online. <a href="http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/213853-overview#a6">http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/213853-overview#a6</a> (Accessed September 2015)

  28 CDC. Invasive Candidiasis Risk & Prevention. CDC.gov. June 12, 2015. Online. http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/invasive/risk-prevention.html
- (Accessed August 2015)

  29 Wisplinghoff H, Bischoff T, Tallent SM, et al. Nosocomial Bloodstream Infections in US Hospitals: Analysis of 24,179 Cases from a Prospective Nationwide
- Surveillance Study. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2004. Online.
- http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/39/3/309.abstract?ijkey=2de2241bfeffad12647add7d58563dcedbde6445&keytype2=tf\_ipsecsha\_(Accessed August 2015) Kelly MS, Benjamin Jr DK, Smith PB. The Epidemiology and Diagnosis of Invasive Candidiasis among Premature Infants. Clinics in Perinatology. March 2015.
- ct.com/science/article/pii/S0095510814001171 (Accessed August 2015) 31 American Thoracic Society, Patient Information Series: Candida Infection of the Bloodstream—Candidemia. American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care.
- October 2013. Online. <a href="http://www.thoracic.org/patients/patient-resources/resources/candidemia.pdf">http://www.thoracic.org/patients/patient-resources/resources/candidemia.pdf</a> (Accessed August 2015) <sup>32</sup> Lashof AML, Rothova A, Sobel JD, et al. Ocular Manifestations of Candidemia. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2011. Online.

- http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/53/3/262.full (Accessed August 2015)

  33 Krishna R, Amuh D, Lowder CY, et al. Should All Patients with Candidaemia Have an Ophthalmic Examination to Rule Out Ocular Candidiasis? Eye. 2000. Online. http://www.nature.com/eye/journal/v14/n1/abs/eye20007a.html (Accessed August 2015)
- 34 Ilkit M and Guzel AB. The Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, and Diagnosis of Vulvovaginal Candidosis: A Mycological Perspective. Critical Reviews in Microbiology. Volume 37, Issue 3, 2011. Published online May 3, 2015. <a href="http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/1040841X.2011.576332#abstract">http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/1040841X.2011.576332#abstract</a> (Accessed July 2015)

  35 CDC. Candidiasis: Risk and Prevention. CDC.gov. February 13, 2014. Online. <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/genital/risk-prevention.html">http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/genital/risk-prevention.html</a>
- (Accessed July 2015)

  36 Van de Wijgert JH, Morriso CS, Cornelisse PG, et al. Bacterial Vaginosis and Vaginal Yeast, but Not Vaginal Cleansing, Increase HIV-1 Acquisition in African Color Californ http://www.nchi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18520679 (Accessed July 2015) Women. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. June 2008. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18520679">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18520679</a> (Accessed July 2015) <sup>37</sup> Achkar JM and Fries BC. Candida Infections of the Genitourinary Tract. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. April 2010. Online.

- http://cmr.asm.org/content/23/2/253.full (Accessed August 2015)

  38 MedlinePlus. Vaginal Yeast Infection. National Institutes of Health National Library of Medicine. July 28, 2015. Online.
- http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/001511.htm (Accessed July 2015)

  39 Cotch MF, Hillier SL, Gibbs RS and Eschenback DA. Epidemiology and Outcomes Associated with Moderate to heavy Candida Colonization during Pregnancy. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. February 1998. Online. http://www.ajog.org/article/S0002-9378%2898%2980028-8/abstract (Accessed August
- 40 Eckert LO, Hawes SE, Stevens CE. Vulvovaginal Candidiasis: Clinical Manifestations, Risk Factors, Management Algorithm. Obstetrics and Gynecology. November 1998. Online. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0029784498002646 (Accessed August 2015)

www.mercola.com Page 18 | 23

```
<sup>41</sup> Sobel JD. Recurrent Vulvovaginal Candidiasis. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. July 9, 2015. Online.
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0002937815007164 (Accessed August 2015)

42 Achkar JM and Fries BC. Candida Infections of the Genitourinary Tract. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. April 2010. Online.
http://cmr.asm.org/content/23/2/253.full#ref-104 (Accessed August 2015)

43 Oriel JD, Partridge BM, Denny MJ, Coleman JC. Genital Yeast Infections. British Medical Journal. 1972. Online.
http://www.bmj.com/content/4/5843/761?variant=abstract (Accessed September 2015)

44 Van de Wijgert JH, Verwijs MC, Turner AN, Morrison CS. Hormonal Contraception Decreases Bacterial Vaginosis but Oral Contraception May Increase
Candidiasis: Implications for HIV Transmission. AIDS. August 24, 2014. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23660575">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23660575</a> (Accessed November 2015)

45 Achkar JM and Fries BC. Candida Infections of the Genitourinary Tract. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. April 2010. Online.
http://cmr.asm.org/content/23/2/253.full#ref-104 (Accessed August 2015)
   Jobs D and Kraft K. Candida Species in Stool, Symptoms and Complaints in General Practice—a Cross-Sectional Study of 308 Outpatients. Mycoses. August
2006. Online. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1439-
0507.2006.01244.x/abstract;isessionid=B744CF204813E1C2FCB60F4D89E62A92.f03t01?userlsAuthenticated=false&deniedAccessCustomisedMessage=
(Accessed September 2015)
  Reed BD, Zazove P, Pierson CL, et al. Candida Transmission and Sexual Behaviors as Risks for a Repeat Episode of Candida Vulvovaginitis. Journal of
Women's Health. July 7, 2004. Online. http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/154099903322643901 (Accessed August 2015)
48 University of Maryland Medical Center. Candidiasis. Umm.edu. July 2015. Online. http://umm.edu/health/medical/altmed/condition/candidiasis (Accessed July
<sup>49</sup> CDC. Symptoms of Genital/Vulvovaginal Candidiasis. CDC.gov. February 13, 2014. Online.
http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/candidiasis/genital/symptoms.html (Accessed July 2015)

50 Eckert LO, Hawes SE, Stevens CE. Vulvovaginal Candidiasis: Clinical Manifestations, Risk Factors, Management Algorithm. Obstetrics and Gynecology.
November 1998. Online. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0029784498002646 (Accessed August 2015)
<sup>51</sup> MedicineNet. Yeast Infection in Women and Men. MedicineNet.com. 2015. Online.
http://www.med
                          cinenet.com/yeast infection in women and men/page2.htm#what are the signs and symptoms of a vaginal yeast infection (Accessed
August 2015)
<sup>52</sup> Medical News Today. Male Candidiasis (Thrush in Men): Symptoms, Treatments. Medicalnewstoday.com. June 25, 2015. Online.
http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/246615.php#signs and symptoms (Accessed August 2015)

MedilinePlus. Vaginal Yeast Infection. National Institutes of Health Library of Medicine. July 28, 2015. Online.
http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/001511.htm (Accessed August 2015)

4 Rathod SD and Buffer PA. Highly-Cited Estimates of the Cumulative Incidence and Recurrence of Vulvovaginal Candidiasis Are Inadequately Documented.
BMC Womens Health. March 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3975582/ (Accessed July 2015)

55 Foxman B, Maraglia R, Dietz J-P, et al. Prevalence of Recurrent Vulvovaginal Candidiasis in 5 European Countries and the United States: Results from an
Internet Panel Survey. Journal of Lower Genital Tract Disease. July 2013. Online.
 http://journals.lww.com/jlgtd/Abstract/2013/07000/Prevalence of Recurrent Vulvovaginal Candidiasis.18.aspx (Accessed August 2015)
   Geiger AM, Foxman B, Gillespie BW. The Epidemiology of Vulvovaginal Candidiasis among University Students. American Journal of Public Health. 1995.
Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7625516?dopt=Abstract (Accessed August 2015)
<sup>57</sup> Foxman B. The Epidemiology of Vulvovaginal Candidiasis: Risk Factors. American Journal of Public Health. 1990. Online.
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1404680/ (Accessed August 2015)
 <sup>58</sup> Achkar JM and Fries BC. Candida Infections of the Genitourinary Tract. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. April 2010. Online.
http://cmr.asm.org/content/23/2/253.full (Accessed August 2015)

Padawer D, Pastukh N, et al. Catheter-Associated Candiduria: Risk Factors, Medical Interventions, and Antifungal Susceptibility. American Journal of Infection
Control. July 2015. Online. http://www.ajicjournal.org/article/S0196-6553%2815%2900183-2/abstract (Accessed August 2015)

60 Sonoyama K, Miki A, Sugita R, et al. Gut Colonization by Candia Albicans Aggravates Inflammation in the Gut and Extra-Gut Tissues in Mice. TandF Online.
2011. Online. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/13693786.2010.511284 (Accessed September 2015)
61 Trojanowska D, Zwolinska-Wcislo M, Tokarczyk M, et al. The Role of Candida in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Estimation of Transmission of C. Albicans Fungi
in Gastrointestinal Tract Based on Genetic Afinity between Strains. Medical Science Monitor. 2010. Online. http://medscirev.com/abstract/index/idArt/881193
(Accessed September 2015)
62 Gerard R, Sendid B, Colombel JF, et al. An Immunological Link between Candida Albicans Colonization and Crohn's Disease. Critical Reviews in Microbiology.
June 2015. Online. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/1040841X.2013.810587 (Accessed October 2015)

63 Trojanowska D, Zwolinska-Wcislo M, Tokarczyk M, et al. The Role of Candida in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Estimation of Transmission of C. Albicans Fungi
in Gastrointestinal Tract Based on Genetic Affinity between Strains. October 2010. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20885347 (Accessed October
2015)

64 Kumamato CA. Inflammation and Gastrointestinal Candida Colonization. Current Opinion in Microbiology. August 2011. Online.
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3163673/ (Accessed August 2015)

65 Yan L, Yang C and Tang J. Disruption of the Intestinal Mucosal Barrier in Candida Albicans Infections. Microbiological Research. August 25, 2013. Online.
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0944501313000293 (Accessed September 2015)

66 The Oral Cancer Foundation. Candida Infection. Oralcancerfoundation.org. March 2014. Online. http://www.oralcancerfoundation.org/complications/candida-
infection.php (Accessed September 2015)
    Yamaguchi N, Sugita R, Miki A, et al. Gastrointestinal Candida Colonization Promotes Sensitization against Food Antigens by Affecting the Mucosal Barrier in
Mice. British Medical Journal: Gut. 2006. Online. http://gut.bmj.com/content/55/7/954.abstract (Accessed September 2015)
68 Crook WG. The Yeast Connection: A Medical Breakthrough. 1986. Available from Yeastconnection.com and Amazon.com
69 Moraes PS, De Lima Goiaba S, Taketomi EA. Candida Albicans Allergen Immunotherapy in Recurrent Vaginal Candidiasis. Journal of Investigational
Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

To Serrano H. Hypersensitivity to 'Candida Albicans' and Other Fungi in Patients with Chronic Urticaria. Allergologia et Immunologathologia. (Article in Spanish).
Sept-Oct 1975. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/775952">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/775952</a> (Accessed October 2015)

71 Rigg D, Miller MM, Metzger WJ. Recurrent Allergic Vulvovaginitis: Treatment with Candida Albicans Allergen Immunotherapy. American Journal of Obstetrics
and Gynecology. February 1990. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2178425">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2178425</a> (Accessed October 2015)

72 Moraes PS, De Lima Goiaba S, Taketomi EA. Candida Albicans Allergen Immunotherapy in Recurrent Vaginal Candidiasis. Journal of Investigational
Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

The Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergology & Clinical Immunology. Sept-Oct 2000. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11108444</a> (Accessed October 2015)

Allergo
```

www.mercola.com

<sup>5</sup> Zielinski CE, Mele F, Aschenbrenner D, et al. Pathogen-Induced Human T<sub>H</sub>17 Cells Produce IFN-y or IL-10 and Are Regulated by IL-1β. Nature. April 2012.

Mycology. August 2010. Online. <a href="http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/13693786.2010.511284">http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/13693786.2010.511284</a> (Accessed October 2015)

<sup>76</sup> Kumamato CA. Inflammation and Gastrointestinal Candida Colonization. Current Opinion in Microbiology. August 2011. Online.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3163673/ (Accessed August 2015)

77 Nahas R. Irritable Bowel Syndrome: Common Integrative Medicine Perspectives. Chinese Journal of Integrative Medicine. June 2011. Online.

Online. http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v484/n7395/full/nature10957.html (Accessed October 2015)

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11655-011-0759-2#page-1 (Accessed August 2015)

- 78 Achkar JM and Fries BC. Candida Infections of the Genitourinary Tract. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. April 2010. Online.
- http://cmr.asm.org/content/23/2/253.full (Accessed August 2015)

  79 Jobs D and Kraft K. Candida Species in Stool, Symptoms and Complaints in General Practice—a Cross-Sectional Study of 308 Outpatients. Mycoses. August 2006. Online. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1439-
- 0507.2006.01244.x/abstract;isessionid=B744CF204813E1C2FCB60F4D89E62A92.f03t01?userlsAuthenticated=false&deniedAccessCustomisedMessage= (Accessed September 2015)
- 30 Jobs D and Kraft K. Candida Species in Stool, Symptoms and Complaints in General Practice—a Cross-Sectional Study of 308 Outpatients. Mycoses. August 2006. Online. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1439-0507.2006.01244.x/abstract:jsessionid=B744CF204813E1C2FCB60F4D89E62A92.f03t01?userlsAuthenticated=false&deniedAccessCustomisedMessage=
- (Accessed September 2015)
- <sup>1</sup> Gumowski P, Lech B, Chaves I, Girard JP. Chronic Asthma and Rhinitis Due to Candida Albicans, Epidermophyton, and Trichophyton. Annals of Allergy. 1987. Online. <a href="http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/3605797">http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/3605797</a> (Accessed September 2015)
- 82 Moraes P, dos S Felipe. Recurrent Vaginal Candidiasis and Allergic Rhinitis: A Common Association. Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. August 1998. Online. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1081120610628049 (Accessed September 2015)
- 83 Cater RE. Chronic Intestinal Candidiasis as a Possible Etiological Factor in the Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Medical Hypotheses. June 1995. Online encedirect.com/science/article/pii/0306987795905154 (Accessed September 2015)
- http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0306987795905154 (Accessed September 2015)

  84 Truss CO. Restoration of Immunologic Competence to Candida Albicans. Orthomolecular Psychiatry. 1980. Online. http://orthomolecular.org/library/jom/1980/pdf/1980-v09n04-p287.pdf (Accessed September 2015)
- 85 Sonoyama K, Miki A, Sugita R, et al. Gut Colonization by Candia Albicans Aggravates Inflammation in the Gut and Extra-Gut Tissues in Mice. TandF Online. 2011. Online. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/13693786.2010.511284 (Accessed September 2015)
- 86 Yan L, Yang C and Tang J. Disruption of the Intestinal Mucosal Barrier in Candida Albicans Infections. Microbiological Research. August 25, 2013. Online. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0944501313000293 (Accessed September 2015)
- 87 Mason KL, Downward JRE, Falkowski NR, et al. Interplay between the Gastric Bacterial Microbiota and Candida Albicans during Postantibiotic Recolonization and Gastritis. Infection and Immunity. January 2012. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3255670/">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3255670/</a> (Accessed September 2015)

  88 Waltimo TMT, Orstavik D, Siren EK, Haapasalo MPP. In Vitro Susceptibility of Candida Albicans to Four Disinfectants and Their Combinations. International
- Endodontic Journal. December 2001. Online. <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1365-2591.1999.00237.x/abstract">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1365-2591.1999.00237.x/abstract</a> (Accessed September 2015)

  89 Nyirjesy P, Peyton C, Weitz M, et al. Causes of Chronic Vaginitis: Analysis of a Prospective Database of Affected Women. Obstetrics & Gynecology. November
- 2006. Online. http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/abstract/2006/11000/causes\_of\_chronic\_vaginitis\_analysis\_of\_a.20.aspx

  90 Jenkins HF and Douglas J. Chapter 18: Interactions between Candida species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed September 2015)

  91 Jenkins HF and Douglas J. Chapter 18: Interactions between Candida species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed September 2015)
- Jenkins HF and Douglas J. Chapter 18: Interactions between Candida species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online. bi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed September 2015)
- Mason KL, Downward JRE, Falkowski NR, et al. Interplay between the Gastric Bacterial Microbiota and Candida Albicans during Postantibiotic Recolonization and Gastritis. Infection and Immunity. January 2012. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3255670/ (Accessed September 2015)
- 94 Savolainen J, Lammintausta K, Kalimo K, Viander M. Candida Albicans and Atopic Dermatitis. Clinical and Experimental Allergy: Journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 1993. Online. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/8319131 (Accessed September 2015)
- 95 MedlinePlus, Myocarditis: Causes, National Institutes of Health US Library of Medicine, September 2015, Online,
- https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/000149.htm (Accessed September 2015)

  6 Epp LM, Mravec B. Chronic Polysystemic Candidiasis as a Possible Contributor to Onset of Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. Bratislavske Lek Listy. 2006. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=acetaldehyde+c.+albicans+dopamine (Accessed October 2015)
- <sup>97</sup> Montes LF. Pittman CS, Moore WJ, et al. Chronic Mucocutaneous Candidiasis Influence of Thyroid Status. JAMA. 1972. Online. http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=343388 (Accessed October 2015)

  WebMD. Slideshow: Thyroid Symptoms and Solutions. Webmd.com. April 15, 2014. Online. http://www.webmd.com/women/ss/slideshow-thyroid-symptoms-
- nd-solutions (Accessed October 2015)
- and-solutions (Accessed October 2015)

  99 Pizzo G, Giuliana G, Millici ME, Giangreco R. Effect of Dietary Carbohydrates on the In Vitro Epithelial Adhesion of Candida Albicans, Candida Tropicalis, and Candida Krusei. New Microbiology. January 2000. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10946407 (Accessed October 2015)
- 100 Hunnisett A, Howard J, Davies S. Gut Fermentation (or the 'Auto-Brewery') Syndrome: A New Clinical Test with Initial Observations and Discussion of Clinical and Biochemical Implications. Journal of Nutritional Medicine. 1990, published online July 2009. Online. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/13590849009003132 (Accessed October 2015)
- <sup>101</sup> Tillonen J, Homann N, Rautio M, et al. Role of Yeasts in the Salivary Acetaldehyde Production from Ethanol Among Risk groups for Ethanol-Associated Oral Cavity Cancer. Alcoholism Clinical & Experimental Research. May 30, 2006. Online. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1530-
- 0277.1999.tb04364.x/abstract (Accessed October 2015)

  102 Gainza-Cirauqui ML, Nieminen MT, Novak FL, et al. Production of Carcinogenic Acetaldehyde by Candida Albicans from Patients with Potentially Malignant Oral Mucosal Disorders. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine. March 2013. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22909057 (Accessed October 2015) <sup>3</sup> Kufe DW, Pollock RE, Weichselbaum RR, et al., editors. Holland-Frei Cancer Medicine. 6th Edition: Fungal Infections. 2003. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK13518/ (Accessed November 2015)
- Bakri MM, Hussanini HM, Holmes AR, et al. Revisiting the Association between Candidal Infection and Carcinoma, Particularly Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Journal of Oral Microbiology. December 2010. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3084579/ (Accessed October 2015)
- 105 Hoffmann C, Dollive S, Grungerg S, et al. Archaea and Fungi of the Human Gut Microbiome: Correlations with Diet and Bacterial Residents. PLOSone. June 17, 2013. Online. http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0066019 (Accessed October 2015)

  106 Wiser MF. Intestinal Protozoa. Tulane University. 2000. Online. http://www.tulane.edu/~wiser/protozoology/notes/intes.html (Accessed October 2015)
- 107 Hoffmann C, Dollive S, Grungerg S, et al. Archaea and Fungi of the Human Gut Microbiome: Correlations with Diet and Bacterial Residents. PLOSone. June
- 17, 2013. Online. http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0066019 (Accessed October 2015)

  108 Cormane RH and Goslincs WRO. Factors Influencing the Growth of Candida Albicans (in vivo and in vitro Studies). Sabouraudia: Journal of Medical and Veterinary Mycology. July 9, 2009. Online. <a href="http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/003621764851901012">http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/003621764851901012</a>journalCode=immy18 (Accessed October 2015) 109 Larmas M, Makinen KK, Scheinin A. Turku Sugar Studies III. An Intermediate Report on the Effect of Sucrose, Fructose and Xyllitol Diets on the numbers of Salivary Lactobacilli, Candida and Streptococci. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica. 1974. Online. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/00016357409026551 (Accessed October 2015)
- 110 Askew C, Sellam A, Epp E, et al. Transcriptional Regulation of Carbohydrate Metabolism in the Human Pathogen Candida Albicans. PLOS Pathogens. October 2009. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2749448/">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2749448/</a> (Accessed October 2015)

  111 Jenkins HF and Douglas J. Chapter 18: Interactions between Candida species and Bacteria in Mixed Infections. Polymicrobial Diseases. 2002. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2486/ (Accessed September 2015)

  112 Jautova J, Viragova S, Ondrasovic M, Holoda E. Incidence of Candida Species Isolated from Human Skin and Nails: A Survey. Folia Microbiologica. 2001.
- Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11830946 (Accessed October 2015)
- 113 Ilkit M and Guzel AB. The Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, and Diagnosis of Vulvovaginal Candidosis: A Mycological Perspective. Critical Reviews in Microbiology. Volume 37, Issue 3. 2011. Published online May 3, 2015. <a href="http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/1040841X.2011.576332#abstract">http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/1040841X.2011.576332#abstract</a> (Accessed July 2015) Genova Diagnostics. Organix Dysbiosis Profile—Urine. GDX.net. 2015. Online. <a href="https://www.qdx.net/product/organix-dysbiosis-test-urine">https://www.qdx.net/product/organix-dysbiosis-test-urine</a> (Accessed October

Page 20 | 23 www.mercola.com

- 115 FDA. FDA Allows Marketing of the First Test to Identify Five Yeast Pathogens Directly from a Blood Sample. US Department of Health and Human Services. September 22, 2014. Online. http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm415728.htm (Accessed September 2015)
- 116 Medscape, Candidiasis Practice Essentials, 2015, Online, http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/213853-overview (Accessed September 2015)
- 117 CDC. Antifungal Resistance. CDC.gov. October 2014. Online. http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/antifungal-resistance.html (Accessed November 2015)
- 118 Kim K, Zilbermintz L, Martchenko M. Repurposing FDA Approved Drugs Against the Human Fungal Pathogen, Candida Albicans. Annals of Clinical
- Microbiology and Antimicrobials. June 9, 2015. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4462072/">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4462072/</a> (Accessed November 2015)

  119 Freires IA, Bueno-Silva B, Galvao L, et al. The Effect of Essential Oils and Bioactive Fractions on Streptococcus Mutans and Candida Albicans Biofilms: A Confocal Analysis. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. March 2, 2015. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4363662/">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4363662/</a> (Accessed November 2015)
- 120 Suzuki M, Hayama K, Takahashi M, et al. The Effects of an Aroma Candy on Oral Candida Albicans Colony-Forming Units (CFU) and Oral Hygiene States in Healthy Elderly Carrying Candida Albicans. Medical Mycology Journal. 2015. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25855026">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25855026</a> (Accessed November 2015) 121 Bogavac M, Karaman M, Janjusevic Lj, et al. Alternative Treatment of Vaginal Infections—in vitro Antimicrobial and Toxic Effects of Coriandrum Sativum L. and Thymus Vulgaris L. Essential Oils. Journal of Applied Microbiology. August 7, 2015. Online. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jam.12883/abstract;jsessionid=A3157D0521AF4E32D7B1838A57F0C037.f04t01?userIsAuthenticated=false&deniedAcc
- essCustomisedMessage= (Accessed November 2015)

  122 Freires IA, Bueno-Silva B, Galvao L, et al. The Effect of Essential Oils and Bioactive Fractions on Streptococcus Mutans and Candida Albicans Biofilms: A
- Confocal Analysis. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. March 2, 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4363662/ (Accessed November 2015)
- <sup>îza</sup> Freires IA, Bueno-Silva B, de Carvalho Galva LC, et al. The Effect of Essential Oils and Bioactive Fractions on Streptococcus Mutans and Candida Albicans Biofilms: A Confocal Analysis. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. March 2, 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4363662/ (Accessed November 2015)

  124 Szweda P, Gucwa K, Kurzyk E, et al. Essential Oils, Silver Nanoparticles and Propolis as Alternative Agents Against Fluconazole Resistant Candida Albicans,
- Candida Glabrata and Candida Krusei Clinical Isolates. Indian Journal of Microbiology. June 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed (Accessed November 2015)
- 125 Carmen G, Antimicrobial and Antifungal Activity of Pelargonium Roseum Essential Oils. Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin. December 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25671182 (Accessed November 2014)
- Table Bogavac M, Karaman M, Janjus evic Lj, et al. Alternative Treatment of Vaginal Infections—in vitro Antimicrobial and Toxic Effects of Coriandrum Sativum L. and Thymus Vulgaris L. Essential Oils. Jurnal of Applied Microbiology. September 2015. Online. <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jam.12883/abstract;jsessionid=85EBB780CFAB38C6A5FE081A170C4D71.f02t03?userIsAuthenticated=false&deniedAc">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jam.12883/abstract;jsessionid=85EBB780CFAB38C6A5FE081A170C4D71.f02t03?userIsAuthenticated=false&deniedAc</a>
- cessCustomised/Message= (Accessed November 2015)

  127 Szweda P, Gucwa K, Kurzyk E, et al. Essential Oils, Silver Nanoparticles and Propolis as Alternative Agents Against Fluconazole Resistant Candida Albicans, Candida Glabrata and Candida Krusei Clinical Isolates. Indian Journal of Microbiology. June 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25805904
- (Accessed November 2015)

  128 Banaeian-Borujeni S, Mobini GR, Pourgheysari B, Validi M. Comparison of the Effect of Honey and Miconazole against Candida Albicans in vitro. Advanced Biomedical Research. July 30, 2013. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24223372 (Accessed November 2015)
- 129 Canonico B, Candiracci M, Citterio B, et al. Honey Flavonoids Inhibit Candida Albicans Morphogenesis by Affecting DNA Behavior and Mitochondrial Function. Future Medicine: Future Microbiology. Volume 9, 2015. Online. <a href="http://www.futuremedicine.com/doi/abs/10.2217/fmb.14.17">http://www.futuremedicine.com/doi/abs/10.2217/fmb.14.17</a> (Accessed November 2015)

  130 Nasir M, Tafes K, Abate D. Antimicrobial Potential of the Ethiopian Thymus Schimperi Essential Oil in Comparison with Others Against Certain Fungal and Bacterial Species. BioMed Central Complementary & Alternative Medicine. July 31, 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4521365/
- (Accessed November 2015

  131 Ogbolu DO, Oni AA, Daini OA, Oloko AP. In Vitro Antimicrobial Properties of Coconut Oil on Candida Species in Ibadan, Nigeria. Journal of Medicinal Food. June 2007. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17651080 (Accessed November 2015)
- 132 Bergsson G, Amfinnsson J, Steingrimsson O, Thormar H. In Vitro Killing of Candida Albicans by Fatty Acids and Monglycerides. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. November 2001. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC90807/ (Accessed November 2015)
- 133 Cavaleiro C, Salqueiro L, Goncalves MJ, et al. Antifungal Activity of the Essential Oil of Angelica Major against Candida, Cryptococcus, Aspergillus and Dermatophyte Species. Journal of Natural Medicines. April 2015. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25576097">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25576097</a> (Accessed November 2015)

  134 Rath CC, Mohapatra S. Susceptibility Characterization of Candida spp. to Four Essential Oils. Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology. February 2015. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25657164 (Accessed November 2015)

  135 Salmazi R, Calixto G, Bernegossi J, et al. A Curcumin-Loaded Liquid Crystal Precursor Mucoadhesive System for the Treatment of Vaginal Candidiasis. International Journal of Nanomedicine. July 30, 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26257519 (Accessed November 2015)
- 36 Aldawsari HM, Badr-Eldin Sm, Labib GŚ, El-Kamel AH. Design and Formulation of a Topical Hydrogel Integrating Lemongrass-Loaded Nanosponges with an Enhanced Antifungal Effect: invitro/in vivo Evaluation. International Journal of Nanomedicine. January 29, 2015. Online.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25673986 (Accessed November 2015)

  137 Chen CC, Yan SH, Yen MY, et al. Investigations of Kanuka and Manuka Essential Oils for in vitro Treatment of Disease and Cellular Inflammation Caused by Infectious Microorganisms. Journal of Microbiology, Immunology, and Infection. February 27, 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24582465 (Accessed November 2015)
- <sup>8</sup> d Campos Rasteiro Vm, da Costa AC, Araujo CF, et al. Essential Oil of Melaleuca Alternifolia for the Treatment of Oral Candidiasis Induced in an Immunosuppressed Mouse Model. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine. December 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25510285 (Accessed November 2015)
- is Chen Y, Zeng H, Tian J, et al. Dill (Anethum Graveolens L.) Seed Essential Oil Induces Candida Albicans Apoptosis in a Metacaspase-Dependent Manner. Fungal Biology. April 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24742834 (Accessed November 2015) 140 Su YC, Hsu KP, Wang El, Ho CL. Composition, in vitro Cytotoxic, and Antimicrobial Activities of the Flower Essential Oil of Diospyros Discolor from Taiwan.
- Natural Product Communications. July 2015. Online. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26411038">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26411038</a> (Accessed November 2015)

  141 WebMD. Boric Acid for Vaginal Yeast Infection—Topic Overview. WebMD Women's Health. 2005-2015. Online. <a href="http://www.webmd.com/women/tc/boric-acid-">http://www.webmd.com/women/tc/boric-acid-</a>
- for-vaginal-yeast-infection-topic-overview (Accessed November 2015)

  142 Nyirjesy P. Management of Persistent Vaginitis. Obstetrics and Gynecology. December 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25415165
- (Accessed November 2015)

  143 Ray D, Goswami R, Dadhwal, et al. Prolonged (3-Month) Mycological Cure Rate after Boric Acid Suppositories in Diabetic Women with Vulvovaginal Candidiasis. Journal of Infection. August 2007. Online. <a href="http://www.journalofinfection.com/article/S0163-4453%2807%2900661-5/abstract">http://www.journalofinfection.com/article/S0163-4453%2807%2900661-5/abstract</a> (Accessed August 2015)

  144 Varadarajan S, Narasimhan M, Malaisamy M, Duraipandian C. Invitro Anti-mycotic Activity of Hydro Alcoholic Extracts of Some Indian Medicinal Plants Against Fluconazole Resistant Candida Albicans. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. August 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26436036
- (Accessed November 2015)

  145 Vilela SF, Barbosa JO, Rossoni RD, et al. Lactobacillus Acidophilus ATCC 4356 Inhibits Biofilm Formation by C. Albicans and Attenuates the Experimental Candidiasis in Galleria Mellonella. Virulence. 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25654408 (Accessed November 2015)
- <sup>146</sup> Ghiaci M, Aghaei H, Soleimanian S, Sedaghat ME. Enzyme Immobilization: Part 1. Modified Bentonite as a New and Efficient Support for Immobilization of Candida Rugosa Lipase. Applied Clay Science. March 2009. Online. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169131708001993 (Accessed November
- 2015)

  147 Paraje MG, Albesa I, Eraso AJ. Conservation in Probiotic Preparations of Lactobacillus with Inhibitory Capacity on Other Species. The New Microbiologica. October 2000. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11061631 (Accessed November 2015)

www.mercola.com Page 21 | 23

Page 22 | 23 www.mercola.com

<sup>148</sup> Lovachev SM, Vatcheva-Dobrevska RS. Local Probiotic Therapy for Vaginal Candida Albicans Infections. Probiotics Antimicrobial Proteins. March 2015.
Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25362524 (Accessed November 2015)

149 Parolin C, Marangoni A, Laghi L, et al. Isolation of Vaginal Lactobacilli and Characterization of Anti-Candida Activity. PLOS One. June 22, 2015. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4476673/ (Accessed November 2015)

150 De Seta F, Parazzini F, De Leo R, et al. Lactobacillus Plantarum P17630 for Preventing Candida Vaginitis Recurrence: a Retrospective Comparative Study. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. November 2014. Online. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25305660 (Accessed November 2014)

November 2015

151 Borges S, Silva J, Teixeira P. The Role of Lactobacilli and Probiotics in Maintaining Vaginal Health. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 2013. Online.

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00404-013-3064-9 (Accessed November 2015)

152 Khoo A-L, Chai LYA, Koenen HJPM, et al. 1,25-dihyroxyvitamin D3 Modulates Cytokine Production Induced by Candida Albicans: Impact of Seasonal Variation of Immune Responses. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. January 2011. Online.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3086448/ (Accessed October 2015)